THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

FEB 02 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM FLORENCE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Post Conviction Relief
Honorable D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-002033

Gregory Daniels, 297449,.....Petitioner,

vs.

State of South Carolina,.....Respondent.

PETITION FOR
WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Tricia A. Blanchette
Post Office Box 2147
Leesville, SC 29070
(803)908-3266
Attorney for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The lower court erred in finding that trial counsel did not render ineffective assistance of counsel due to his failure to properly prepare and investigate prior to trial since such a finding was premised on an error of law due to a presumption of a valid strategy on the part of deceased trial counsel.

- II. The lower court erred in failing to make a finding of ineffective assistance and prosecutorial misconduct due to the allegations raised and testimony offered regarding Gary Bostic.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In a Post Conviction Relief Appeal, great deference is given to the lower court's findings of fact and conclusions of law. McCray v. State, 317 S.C. 557, 455 S.E.2d 686 (1995). The existence of "any evidence" of probative value is sufficient to uphold the lower court's ruling. Webb v. State, 281 S.C. 237, 314 S.E.2d 839 (1984). When it is argued that the lower court's decision is controlled by an error of law, a *de novo* review is required. Jamison v. State, 410 S.C. 456, 465, 765 S.E.2d 123, 127 (2014).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. General Sessions

Petitioner is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment of the Florence County Clerk of Court. The Florence County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner in April 2009 for murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime (2009-GS-21-427, Counts 1 & 2). App. p. 639. Jack W. Lawson Jr., Esquire, represented Petitioner. On April 16, 2010, a jury convicted Petitioner as indicted. The Honorable Thomas A. Russo sentenced Petitioner to life in prison for murder and a concurrent five (5) years for weapon possession. App. pp. 641, 647.

Petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal. Tristan M. Shaffer, Esquire, and Wanda H. Carter, Esquire, of the Office of Appellate Defense represented Petitioner on appeal. The South Carolina Supreme Court affirmed Petitioner's conviction on October 10, 2012. State v. Daniels, 401 S.C. 251, 737 S.E.2d 473 (2012). App. pp. 643, 659. The remittitur was returned to the circuit court on October 26, 2012. App. p. 655.

II. Post Conviction Relief

On February 1, 2013, Petitioner filed an Application for Post Conviction Relief filed February 1, 2013. App. p. 671. The State filed a Return on or about September 17, 2013. On September 22, 2014, Petitioner, through counsel, filed an Amendment to Application for Post Conviction Relief, which amended the Application by adding the following specific allegations of ineffective assistance of trial and appellate counsel:

1. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to provide Applicant with a complete copy of discovery and review it with him prior to trial.
2. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to conduct an independent investigation and properly prepare Applicant's case for trial. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to call witnesses at trial. Specifically, failure to

interview Gary Bostic and subpoena him for trial, which would have resulted in the discovery of a Brady violation and/or prosecutorial misconduct for failing to disclose the law enforcement interview of Gary Bostic. See attached Affidavit of Gary Bostic, Transcript pp. 598, lns. 22-25. Alternatively, prosecutorial misconduct and/or newly discovered evidence of a Brady violation regarding the failure of the State to disclose the law enforcement interview of Gary Bostic.

3. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to object to the State being allowed to proceed on two theories: murder for hire and argument at cookout. Failure to file a motion to elect theory, motion to quash indictment, raise the argument on directed verdict or request a charge for the jury to be unanimous on the theory.
4. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to raise a third party guilt defense and utilize exculpatory evidence at trial.
5. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to make all viable contemporaneous objections at trial.
6. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to review Applicant's statement with him prior to trial, utilize Applicant at the Jackson v. Denno hearing and make a proper argument for suppression of Applicant's statement.
7. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to utilize Applicant as a witness at trial.
8. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to investigate and object at trial to the search and resulting records obtained on and from Applicant's phone.
9. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to advise Applicant of the State's intention to use his girlfriend's letters as evidence against him, failure to utilize the complete letters and/or additional letters to put the selected text into context, failure to prepare and utilize Applicant to testify in response to the introduction of the letters.
10. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to impeach the state's witnesses with contradictory testimony, oral and written statements and other discovery documents.
11. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to advise Applicant of the evidence the state intended to introduce involving the phone call between the victim and Gass. Failure to effectively argue against the admission of the testimony/evidence under the present sense impression exception.

12. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to review the statements of Andre Bradley and Jasmine Barrett and proffer agreement of Andre Bradley with Applicant prior to trial. Failure to make the record clear as to the disclosure of the proffer agreement by the State and ensure the issue was properly preserved for appeal. Failure to effectively cross-examine Andre Bradley and Jasmine Barrett.
13. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to properly preserve the arguments made by appellate counsel regarding the impermissible jury charge. See State v. Daniels, 410 S.C. 251, 737 S.E.2d 473 (2012).
14. Ineffective assistance of appellate counsel for failure to raise all meritorious issues on appeal and address the credibility and inconsistent testimony of the State's witnesses. Specifically, failure to raise the following motions/objections made by trial counsel:
 - a. Objection to the testimony of Gass regarding the call with the victim and the admission of such under the present sense impression exception.
 - b. Objection to the admission of the Applicant's letters to his girlfriend.
 - c. The Jackson v. Denno hearing and admission of Applicant's statement.
15. Pursuant to Rule 15(b), SCRPC, Applicant would move to amend to conform to the evidence and testimony presented at the evidentiary hearing.

App. p. 694.

An evidentiary hearing was set for October 6, 2014. On September 29, 2014, Respondent filed a Motion for Continuance and Motion for Discovery. App. p. 700, 704. On September 30, 2014, Petitioner, through counsel, submitted a Motion in Opposition to Respondent's Motion for Continuance and Discovery. App. p. 704. On October 1, 2014, the Honorable William H. Seals, Jr., issued an Order granting Respondent's request for a continuance. App. p. 710. On October 6, 2014, a motion hearing was held in front of the Honorable Edgar W. Dickson. Petitioner was present and represented by Tricia A. Blanchette, Esquire. Respondent was represented by J. Croom Hunter, Assistant Attorney General. After hearing from both parties, the Honorable Edgar W. Dickson ordered that an evidentiary hearing be set for a full day of Petitioner's choosing during the next term of court and granted Respondent's request for limited discovery.

An Order Granting Limited Discovery was issued on October 22, 2014, which was filed on October 30, 2014. App. p. 739.

An evidentiary hearing was conducted at the Florence County Courthouse on April 14 and 17, 2015 in front of the Honorable D. Craig Brown. App. p. 745. Petitioner was present and represented by Tricia A. Blanchette, Esquire. Respondent was represented by J. Croom Hunter, Assistant Attorney General, and Josh Thomas, Assistant Attorney General. Petitioner was called to the stand, along with the following witnesses on his behalf: Tristan Shaffer, Esquire, Gary Bostic, Johnny Etheridge, Esquire, Andrew Williams, and Pete Skidmore. Respondent called the following witnesses: Lieutenant Timothy Compton, Grayson Smith, Esquire, and John Jepertinger, Assistant Solicitor for the Twelfth Judicial Circuit.¹ Petitioner attempted to admit thirty-one exhibits. Respondent admitted one exhibit. At the conclusion of the hearing, the Honorable D. Craig Brown instructed the parties to prepare proposed orders. Following the submission of proposed orders, an Order of Dismissal was issued by the Honorable D. Craig Brown on June 8, 2015 and filed on June 10, 2015. App. p. 1168.

On June 25, 2015, Petitioner timely filed a Motion Pursuant to Rule 59 (a) & (e), SCRCF. App. p. 1200. Respondent filed a Return on or about June 30, 2015. App. p. 1233. The Honorable D. Craig Brown issued an Order of denial on August 5, 2015, which was filed on August 24, 2015. App. p. 1236. This appeal timely follows.

¹ At the time of trial Timothy Compton had the title "Investigator" and will be referred to as Investigator Compton and Lieutenant Compton.

ARGUMENT

- I. The lower court erred in finding that trial counsel did not render ineffective assistance of counsel due to his failure to properly prepare and investigate prior to trial since such a finding was premised on an error of law due to a presumption of a valid strategy on the part of deceased trial counsel.

In order to prove counsel was ineffective, a PCR applicant must show: (1) counsel's performance was deficient; and (2) there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the trial would have been different. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 Rhodes v. State, 349 S.C. 25, 561 S.E.2d 606 (2002). A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial. Id. Without a doubt, “[a] criminal defense attorney has a duty to investigate, but this duty is limited to reasonable investigation.” Ard v. Catoe, 372 S.C. 318, 331, 642 S.E.2d 590, 597 (2007) (quoting Thompson v. Wainwright, 787 F.2d 1447, 1450 (11th Cir. 1986). “[W]hile the scope of a reasonable investigation depends upon the number of issues, ‘at a minimum, counsel has a duty to interview potential witnesses and to make an **independent** investigation of the facts and circumstances of the case.’” Id. at 331-32, 642 S.E.2d at 597 (quoting Troedel v. Wainwright, 667 F. Supp. 1456, 1461 (S.D.Fla.1986) (emphasis in original)).

In the instant case, Jack Lawson, trial counsel, lost his battle to cancer eight months after handling Petitioner’s trial; therefore, his testimony could not be offered to address whether he reviewed all of the evidence with Petitioner, how he prepared with Petitioner for trial, what strategy factored into his presentation of Petitioner’s defense and if Petitioner made a fully informed decision when he chose not to take the stand at trial. Over Petitioner’s objection, the lower court allowed the State to offer testimony regarding the reputation of Jack Lawson as an excellent attorney, but, as was argued by Petitioner’s counsel, the lower court was in error when he allowed reputation testimony to refute the specific allegations made by Petitioner. App. pp.

991, 1036. See Hiott v. State, 381 S.C. 622, 674 S.E.2d 491 (2009) (The decision of the PCR judge may be reversed when it is controlled by an error of law). In Ingle v. State, 348 S.C. 467, 470, 560 S.E.2d 401, 402 (2002) this Court made the following clear:

Counsel must articulate a valid reason for employing a certain strategy to avoid a finding of ineffectiveness. Roseboro v. State, 317 S.C. 292, 294, 454 S.E.2d 312, 313 (1995); Stokes v. State, 308 S.C. 546, 419 S.E.2d 778 (1992). Where counsel articulates a strategy, it is measured under an objective standard of reasonableness. Roseboro, supra.

Here, the lower court could not assess the reasonableness of counsel's preparation or trial strategy since counsel was not present to testify and the testimony the court allowed from the State's witnesses did not address the specific allegations made by Petitioner.² See Lounds v. State, 380 S.C. 454, 670 S.E.2d 646 (2008). (Reversing the lower court and granting relief since trial counsel did not testify at the PCR hearing and did not offer an objectively valid strategic reason for not calling witnesses). Nevertheless, the lower court held that is "must presume" a "valid strategy" and relied upon this presumption thus committing an error of law requiring reversal. App. p. 1179.

Furthermore, the record establishes that trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel in his preparation with Petitioner prior to trial, which resulted in Petitioner not being utilized as a witness at trial and a prejudicial outcome for Petitioner in both the circuit and appellate court. Here, prejudice is evidenced by Petitioner being found guilty despite the State's admission at trial that there was no physical evidence or eyewitnesses to the murder. App. p. 83. Clearly, the defense fell short, when this Court reasoned that Petitioner's conviction should not

² The State did call Grayson Smith, Esquire, who served as second chair, but his testimony established that Petitioner's case was solely handled by Mr. Lawson and he only testified to observing counsel working on Petitioner's case but to no meetings or interaction between counsel and Petitioner. App. pp. 1034-5, 1039-42. He also explained that he only assisted as a note taker and in making arguments on the court's charge at trial. App. pp. 1038-9.

be reversed since the State “presented substantial circumstantial evidence that Appellant committed the crime charged.” Daniels, 401 S.C. 251, 260, 737 S.E.2d 473, 478. As a result of a thorough review of the record, and in consideration of the testimony and evidence offered at the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner submits that counsel’s below detailed ineffective assistance on the matters relating to preparation and investigation affected the outcome of his trial and appeal.

As is addressed in detail herein, Petitioner offered numerous evidentiary items, turned over to PCR counsel as being contained in trial counsel’s file, that he claimed that counsel failed to review with him.³ App. pp. 792-3. He explained how he would have wanted for counsel to utilize such in the preparation and defense of his case and how such would have affected his

³ In contrast to the lower court accepting opinion testimony and speculation regarding trial counsel to refute Petitioner’s allegations, the lower court sustained the State’s objections to the admission of the majority of the evidentiary items that were contained in trial counsel’s file and turned over to the State in advance of continuance obtained in October of 2014. App. pp. 717-18, 1019-20, 1073. It appears that the State made a hearsay objection to the exhibits, which the court through commentary and a chambers meeting chose to sustain, but it also appears the court found the evidence was cumulative to Petitioner’s testimony. App. pp. 810, 813-20, 824, 826, 860, 865-69, 872, 886, 908, 911. As was argued to the lower court, Petitioner submits that the lower court’s ruling to exclude a majority of the exhibits offered was in error. PCR counsel’s reasoning for moving to admit the exhibits was to show it was in counsel’s file, which was not disputed by the State, and was available to be utilized in preparation of the defense. App. pp. 1008-16. This reasoning is very similar to the reasoning found in Player v. Thompson, 259 S.C. 600, 609-10, 193 S.E.2d 531, 535 (1972), as follows:

"Hearsay evidence is testimony in court or written evidence, of a statement made out of court, such statement being offered as an assertion to show the truth of matters asserted therein, and thus resting for its value upon the credibility of the out-of- court asserter." Our Court has recognized this sound and very basic proposition in Watson v. Wall, 239 S.C. 109, 121 S.E. (2d) 427 (1961). Also See 5 Wigmore on Evidence § 1361 (3rd ed. 1940). "If, then, an utterance can be used as circumstantial evidence, i.e. without inferring from it as an assertion to the fact asserted, the Hearsay rule does not oppose any barrier, because it is not applicable." 6 Wigmore on Evidence § 1788 (3rd. ed. 1940). It would not be improper in this case for the plaintiff to elicit testimony from Nancy Carder that a filling station attendant stated to both Mrs. Thompson and her that the automobile had bad tires. It would be receivable, not as a testimonial assertion by the attendant to prove the fact of slick tires, but as indicating that Nancy Carder and Mrs. Thompson obtained knowledge of the slick tires, the fact of slick tires being proved by other evidence. Inasmuch as the testimony was not offered to prove the truth of the matter stated, but solely to prove notice, which is a state of mind, the hearsay rule does not apply.

Petitioner submits it was error for the lower court to sustain the State’s objection on the basis of hearsay on twelve exhibits that were contained in trial counsel’s file and provided as part of the discovery in the underlying criminal case. This error hindered Petitioner in further satisfying his burden of proof and this Court from conducting a full and proper review of the items testified to by Petitioner that were located in trial counsel’s file and integral to the allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel.

decision to take the stand at trial. Petitioner also offered the testimony of Pete Skidmore, private investigator, and Andrew Williams to demonstrate how further preparation and investigation would have materially aided his defense. App. pp. 949-58.

At the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner explained that he met with trial counsel two to three times at the detention center, and he attempted to regularly communicate with counsel when he was present at the jail meeting with other clients and through written correspondence. App. pp. 789-90. At the evidentiary hearing, Respondent admitted a letter written by Petitioner to counsel. This letter clearly demonstrates that Petitioner was trying to raise issues he recognized in the case documents he was provided, but the letter, despite being introduced as Respondent's exhibit, fails to address what counsel did in response to Petitioner's concerns. App. pp. 936, 1152.

At the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner testified about several issues that pertained to Nyrena Goodman (his girlfriend at the time) who testified for the State. Petitioner explained that Andrew Williams (Petitioner's uncle) was present in the hotel room with himself and Nyrena Goodman and that counsel failed to contact Andrew Williams and utilize him as a witness at trial. App. pp. 800-1. Andrew Williams was called at the evidentiary hearing, and he made it clear that he was never alone in the hotel room with Nyrena Goodman, which directly refutes the testimony she provided at trial.⁴ App. pp. 391-3, 407-10. As is addressed above, counsel did not

⁴ In Bannister v. State, 333 S.C. 298, 509 S.E.2d 807 (1999), this Court addressed whether trial counsel was ineffective for failing to call a witness at trial. This Court reasoned as follows:

This Court has repeatedly held a PCR applicant must produce the testimony of a favorable witness or otherwise offer the testimony in accordance with the rules of evidence at the PCR hearing in order to establish prejudice from the witness' failure to testify at trial. Pauling v. State, 331 S.C. 606, 503 S.E.2d 468 (1998)(applicant established prejudice where nurse's notes presented at PCR hearing corroborated lack of penetration in sexual assault case); Glover v. State, 318 S.C. 496, 458 S.E.2d 538 (1995)(where witnesses applicant claimed could have provided an alibi defense did not testify at the PCR hearing, he could not establish any prejudice from counsel's failure to contact these witnesses); Underwood v. State, 309 S.C.

testify regarding interviewing Andrew Williams nor did counsel provide a strategic reason for failing to utilize him at trial.

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