STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

JUL 10 2017

Appeal from Florence County
Honorable D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2015-002033

GREGORY DANIELS,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

LINDSEY A. MCCALLISTER
Assistant Attorney General
Bar #79054

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

- I. **There is probative evidence in the record to support the PCR Court’s finding trial Counsel rendered effective assistance in his investigation and preparation for trial, as case law dictates Counsel must be strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and Petitioner presented no evidence which would overcome that presumption.**

Petitioner erroneously contends the PCR court premised its finding that Counsel was not ineffective in regards to his investigation and preparation for trial on an error of law by presuming Counsel made valid strategic decisions even though Counsel was not present to testify at the evidentiary hearing. See PWC, p. 8. Petitioner cites Roseboro v. State, 317 S.C. 292 (1995), and Lounds v. State, 380 S.C. 454 (2008),⁶ for the proposition that “Counsel must articulate a valid reason for employing a certain strategy to avoid a finding of ineffectiveness.” PWC, p. 8. Petitioner essentially argues that because Counsel was unavailable to explain a specific strategy or reason for his decision making, the PCR court had no choice but to make a finding of ineffectiveness. This argument is clearly contrary to established case law, and the PCR court did not err in presuming Counsel valid strategy.

“Counsel’s performance is accorded a favorable presumption, and a reviewing court proceeds from the rebuttable presumption that counsel ‘rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment.’” Strickland, 466

⁶ In both of the cases Petitioner cites, the court found trial counsel had engaged in *per se* deficient conduct – failure to investigate in Lounds and failure to request an alibi charge when evidence showed the defendant was in a different location at the time of the crime in Roseboro. 380 S.C. at 460, 670 S.E.2d at 649; 317 S.C. at 294, 454 S.E.2d at 313. Therefore, trial counsel had to articulate a valid strategy in order to escape a finding of ineffective assistance. 380 S.C. at 462, 670 S.E.2d at 650; 317 S.C. at 294, 454 S.E.2d at 313. Here, the PCR court found Counsel’s conduct was not deficient, so no explanation of Counsel’s strategic decisions is needed.

U.S. at 690. “The United States Supreme Court has cautioned that ‘every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight’ and evaluate counsel’s decisions at the time they were made. Accordingly, we must be wary of second-guessing trial counsel’s tactics.” Edwards v. State, 392 S.C. 449, 456–57, 710 S.E.2d 60, 64 (2011) (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689). Additionally, courts should not “insist counsel confirm every aspect of the strategic basis for his or her actions.” Harrington v. Richter, 562 U.S. 86, 109 (2011). Strickland itself recites that there are countless ways to provide effective assistance and even the best lawyers would not defend a particular client in the same way. 466 U.S. at 689. There is a strong presumption that trial counsel’s decisions are based on tactical strategy rather than neglect, and “[t]hat presumption has particular force where a petitioner bases his ineffective-assistance claim solely on the trial record, creating a situation in which a court ‘may have no way of knowing whether a seemingly unusual or misguided action by counsel had a sound strategic motive.’” Yarborough v. Gentry, 540 U.S. 1, 8 (2003) (quoting Massaro v. United States, 538 U.S. 500 (2003)). “It should go without saying that the absence of evidence cannot overcome the ‘strong presumption that counsel’s conduct [fell] within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance.’” Burt v. Titlow, 571 U.S. ___, 134 S.Ct. 10, 17 (2013) (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689).

Petitioner’s primary contentions as to Counsel’s ineffectiveness are (1) Counsel failed to discuss with Petitioner the full extent of the evidence the State was planning to introduce against him – namely the letters he wrote to Nyrena Goodman⁷ and the statements of Andre Bradley and Jasmine Barrett that they heard Petitioner admit to the murder – and he would have testified on his own behalf to refute that testimony if he had known; (2) Counsel failed to perform an independent investigation of the case, including a failure to interview and call favorable

⁷ Since it is undisputed Petitioner is the author of the letters, Petitioner clearly had notice of their existence prior to trial.

witnesses for trial and a failure to argue third-party guilt; (3) Counsel did not appropriately challenge the admission of Petitioner's statement during the Jackson v. Denno hearing.

Petitioner contends he would have testified on his own behalf to refute the statements of Andre Bradley and Jasmine Barrett as to his admission that he had committed the murder and to give context to the statements contained in the letters he wrote to Nyrena Goodman. App. 804. Petitioner, however, did not make the decision not to testify until after the State had presented its entire case, including all of the above-mentioned evidence and testimony. App. 542. Counsel informed the trial court he needed more time to discuss the issue with Petitioner, and Petitioner was given until the next morning to make his final decision. App. 540. Additionally, the trial court engaged in a thorough colloquy with Petitioner regarding his decision not to testify, and at no point did Petitioner indicate he needed additional time to make the decision or to speak with his attorney about the decision. App. 542-43.

Petitioner further alleges Counsel failed to conduct an independent investigation and specifically, Counsel failed to interview two favorable witnesses, Andrew Williams and Gary Bostic⁸, who Petitioner contends should have been called to testify on Petitioner's behalf at trial. "So long as a defendant's attorney conducts a reasonable investigation, including interviewing potential witnesses when it is reasonable to do so, his performance will not be deficient." Edwards v. State, 392 S.C. 449, 457, 710 S.E.2d 60, 65 (2011). "[S]trategic choices made after thorough investigation of law and facts relevant to plausible options are virtually unchallengeable; and strategic choices made after less than complete investigation are reasonable precisely to the extent that reasonable professional judgments support the limitations on investigation. . . . In any ineffectiveness case, a particular decision not to investigate must be

⁸ Petitioner's allegations regarding Gary Bostic are addressed in detail in section II, *infra*.

directly assessed for reasonableness in all the circumstances, applying a heavy measure of deference to counsel's judgments." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690-91.

In this case, Petitioner's co-counsel testified he was "sure" one of the investigators employed by the Public Defenders' Office, Frank White, met with Petitioner in jail; he observed Counsel reviewing the witnesses' audio statements on multiple occasions; and he had specific recollections of Counsel working on the case and reviewing the file at least a month prior to trial. App. 294, 306. Further, the lead investigator on the case, Investigator Compton, testified he met with both investigators from the Public Defenders' Office as well as Mr. Lawson prior to trial. App. 1049. The solicitor who prosecuted the case testified to Counsel's extensive experience trying criminal cases and specifically his observations of Counsel thoroughly reviewing discovery and evidence with clients when he and Counsel practiced together. App. 990-92.

Regarding the testimony of Mr. Williams, he was present and testified at the evidentiary hearing, though the extent of his testimony was to say he was never in the hotel room alone with Nyrena Goodman, Petitioner was not acting out of character the day after the murder, and Counsel never contacted him prior to trial. App. 950-52. Mr. Williams's testimony, however, is irrelevant since it is undisputed his contact with Petitioner occurred hours after the murder, and the State introduced independent evidence confirming Mr. Williams rented a Ford Taurus at approximately 11:30 am on the day after the murder, which Andre Bradley saw Petitioner driving later that day. App. 437, 487. Indeed, Mr. Williams himself confirmed he rented the Taurus for Petitioner. App. 950. His testimony, therefore, is at best merely cumulative to other evidence. In any event, it is not so obviously favorable to Petitioner as to establish prejudice sufficient to warrant relief. "This Court has repeatedly held a PCR applicant must produce the testimony of a favorable witness or otherwise offer the testimony in accordance with the rules of

evidence at the PCR hearing in order to establish prejudice. . . .” Bannister v. State, 333 S.C. 298, 303, 509 S.E. 2d 807, 809 (1998). However, “where evidence produced during PCR proceedings is cumulative to or does not otherwise aid evidence introduced at trial, no prejudice results from counsel’s failure to bring it forward.” Edwards, 392 S.C. at 459, 710 S.E.2d at 66.

Petitioner also contends Counsel should have called him as a witness during the Jackson v. Denno⁹ hearing so Petitioner could deny he gave Investigator Compton a second statement on September 11. App. 841-42. Further, Petitioner testified he would have wanted to explain he was not told he was a suspect in the murder investigation, he would not have talked to police if he had known that information, and that he told Investigator Compton he would only speak to him about the cookout, not the murder. App. 838-39. However, Investigator Compton testified both during the Jackson v. Denno¹⁰ hearing and in front of the jury that Petitioner was not told he was suspect in the murder, Petitioner repeatedly stated his intention only to discuss the cookout not the murder, and Petitioner testified he did voluntarily speak to Investigator Compton on September 10 regarding the events at the cookout. App. 51-52, 53-55, 472, 476-78, 837. Indeed, at the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner acknowledged Compton’s testimony to the fact that Petitioner was not aware he was being investigated for the murder at the time of their first interview on September 10. App. 837. Furthermore, Investigator Compton testified at length as to why there was no signed waiver of rights form or audio recording of Petitioner’s second statement on September 11, which was corroborated in the Jackson v. Denno hearing by a second detective who was present for that interview. App. 51-53, 482-84.

Although Petitioner testified extensively regarding his disagreement with Counsel’s tactics, such decisions are Counsel’s to make. “[D]ecisions primarily involving trial strategy and

⁹ 378 U.S. 368 (1964).

¹⁰ Id.

tactics may be made by trial counsel. . . . Examples of such decisions include ‘which jurors to accept or strike, which witnesses should be called on the defendant's behalf, what evidence should be introduced, whether to object to the admission of evidence, [and] whether and how a witness should be cross-examined.’” Abney v. State, 408 S.C. 41, 48, 757 S.E.2d 544, 547 (Ct. App. 2014) (internal citations omitted). Even though Counsel is no longer available to articulate all of the strategic choices he made during the course of his representation of Petitioner, under the Strickland standard Counsel is entitled to a strong presumption he rendered effective assistance. 466 U.S. at 689 (“[J]udicial scrutiny of counsel’s performance must be highly deferential.”) Additionally, as discussed above, the record reflects Counsel did conduct an investigation and suggests various legitimate bases for the strategic decisions Counsel made.

Furthermore, Petitioner failed to present any evidence of prejudice resulting from Counsel’s allegedly deficient performance other than to suggest prejudice should be presumed because he was convicted based solely on circumstantial evidence. PWC, p. 15. This argument is plainly contrary to the well-established rule that “[t]he law makes absolutely no distinction between the weight or value to be given to either direct or circumstantial evidence. Nor is a greater degree of certainty required of circumstantial evidence than of direct evidence.” State v. Logan, 405 S.C. 83, 96, 747 S.E.2d 444, 451 (2013) (quoting State v. Grippon, 327 S.C. 79, 83-84, 489 S.E.2d 462, 464 (1997)). Therefore, because Petitioner has failed to show either deficiency or prejudice, the petition should be denied.

II. The PCR Court correctly found Counsel rendered effective assistance despite not interviewing or calling as a witness the man who allegedly paid Petitioner to commit the murder, Gary Bostic, because Bostic's testimony was not credible and self-serving. The PCR Court also correctly found the State did not commit a Brady¹¹ violation in regards to its investigation of Bostic because Petitioner introduced no evidence to show either the solicitor or the police investigators ever interviewed Bostic or otherwise obtained a statement from him.

Mr. Bostic is the only person who testified he was questioned by police regarding the murder of Victim, and the trial court found his testimony not credible. App. 1195. Mr. Bostic could not pinpoint a precise date for the interview to establish it occurred prior to trial, except to say he thinks it took place sometime in 2010. App. 777. Both the solicitor and Investigator Compton testified they never interviewed Mr. Bostic. App. 989, 1049. Petitioner introduced a letter written by his attorney, Mr. Etheridge, which shows Investigator Compton was attempting to set up a meeting with Mr. Bostic, but the subject line of the letter indicates the meeting was in reference to an "ABWIK" charge, and Mr. Bostic wanted the meeting to take place in Mr. Etheridge's office. App. 1151. Further, Mr. Etheridge testified he was not present at any meeting between Mr. Bostic and law enforcement, and he only had Mr. Bostic's word that the meeting took place, which Bostic claimed happened not at Mr. Etheridge's office, but at the police station. App. 771, 781-83. Mr. Etheridge also testified he did not remember Petitioner's name being mentioned, and remembered only that law enforcement wanted to interview Mr. Bostic about a "violent crime." App. 782. Even after seeing the letter and hearing Mr. Bostic's testimony, Investigator Compton maintained he was never able to interview Mr. Bostic because the two of them could never "get up." App. 1049, 1054, 1072. Additionally, as the solicitor pointed out, Mr. Bostic's testimony denying he paid Petitioner to murder Victim or had any involvement in the murder, is exactly what they expected him to say, and they had no reason to

¹¹ 373 U.S. 83 (1963).

spend time and resources tracking him down when they knew he was not likely to confess his involvement. App. 989.

In Edwards v. State, this Court held that “[a] witness’s credibility and demeanor is crucial to an attorney’s trial strategy, and an attorney cannot be said to be deficient if there is evidence to support his decision to not call a witness with serious credibility questions.” Edwards v. State, 392 S.C. 449, 458, 710 S.E.2d 60, 65 (2011). The trial court found Mr. Bostic’s testimony “extremely difficult to believe” and deemed it to be not credible. App. 1195. Most tellingly, Petitioner himself testified he lied about Mr. Bostic driving him and Ms. Goodman to the hotel on the night of the murder because he and Mr. Bostic were involved in other illegal activities together, and he did not want his association with Mr. Bostic known to the police. App. 945. Given Petitioner’s admission he was involved in illegal activities with Mr. Bostic, Counsel had a valid strategic reason for declining to call Mr. Bostic as a witness. Furthermore, Mr. Bostic’s testimony at the evidentiary hearing was extremely brief and entirely self-serving, and did nothing to exculpate Petitioner as the shooter, so Counsel could have reasonably concluded the risk posed by calling Mr. Bostic was greater than the reward. App. 768-79.

Petitioner also alleges the State’s failure to disclose law enforcement’s interview of Mr. Bostic is a violation of the Brady rule. Brady requires the State to disclose evidence in its possession favorable to the accused and material to guilt or punishment. Clark v. State, 315 S.C.385, 388, 434 S.E.2d 266, 268 (1993). Such a claim is complete if the accused can demonstrate (1) the evidence was favorable to the accused, (2) it was in the possession of or known to the prosecution, (3) it was suppressed by the prosecution, and (4) it was material to guilt or punishment. Gibson v. State, 334 S.C. 515, 524, 514 S.E.2d 320, 324 (1999). “Determining whether evidence withheld by the state is ‘material’ under Brady turns on whether

the cumulative effect of the withheld evidence results in a reasonable probability that, had the evidence been disclosed, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” State v. Hill, 368 S.C. 649, 661, 630 S.E.2d 274, 280–81 (2006).

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